1955

John E. McNaughton and Henrietta McNaughton v. John B. Eaton et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

John E. McNaughton and his wife, appellants here, originally brought this action to quiet title to the waters of McNaughton Gulch. The defendants answered, claiming that they were the owners of all the waters arising

in McNaughton Gulch and denying that the plaintiffs had any interest therein. At the original trial the court awarded the water to the plaintiffs, but erroneously based its judgment on the theory that the waters were private waters not subject to the law of appropriation. The trial court found, however, that if the waters were subject to the doctrine of appropriation, plaintiffs were the senior appropriators with rights superior to the rights of any of the defendants. The defendants appealed. This court on the original appeal reversed the trial court's holding that the waters were private waters, but affirmed the trial court in its determination that the plaintiffs were the senior appropriators. The Supreme Court's prior opinion is reported in 242 P. 2d 570.

The Supreme Court remanded the case with instructions to enter judgment in accordance with its opinion. A further hearing was had. The trial court again held that the plaintiffs were the senior appropriators, fixed the duty of water at 3.5 acre feet of water per year, and then placed various restrictions on plaintiffs' right to use the water and entered an injunction against the plaintiffs. The nature of these restrictions and of the injunction can best be detailed in connection with the Statement of Facts and Argument, but it is because of these restrictions and the injunction that McNaughtons have now appealed. Suffice it to note here that the court order has taken from the plaintiffs nearly 80% of the water they have historically used.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

From the trial court's findings and the determination of the Supreme Court, we consider the following facts to be established. McNaughton Gulch is a natural waterway formed by water erosion from natural sources. The gulch varies from three to five rods in width and from five to fifteen feet in depth with steep banks on either side. The surrounding country is nearly flat with a gradual slope toward the gulch and generally to the south and east. The defendants' lands are all located below the plaintiffs' lands in the east half of the same section. (See Supreme Court's opinion.)

Historically the plaintiffs have diverted the gulch waters by a number of dams. The highest one is about a quarter of a mile upstream from plaintiffs' land and the water is conveyed on to their land below by means of a ditch. The lowest dam is on the boundary line between plaintiffs' two forty acre tracts and only a little more than a quarter of a mile downstream from their west boundary line.

The Supreme Court noted that the waters accumulating in the gulch reached the gulch by five different means, to wit: (1) Waters which drain into the gulch from natural sources; (2) Canal surplus and waste waters turned into the gulch merely to get rid of them; (3) Canal waters used to irrigate lands on both sides of the gulch which drain into it above the plaintiffs' lands;

(4) Canal waters used to irrigate the plaintiffs' lands by draining into the gulch above the plaintiffs' lowest dam; (5) Canal waters turned into the gulch to be used by them to irrigate their lands.

The Supreme Court then went on to note that:

“The first three of the above divisions are subject to appropriation either as the waters of a natural stream or waters which have been once appropriated but allowed to drain into a natural water course beyond the control of the original appropriator. The last two divisions are not subject to appropriation because they are still in the possession of the plaintiffs who have the right to use them under the original appropriation. The trial court correctly held that plaintiffs have the prior right to use all of these waters because as to the first three divisions they had first appropriated them to a beneficial use before 1903 when no application to appropriate was necessary, but the court erred in holding that plaintiffs' rights to the use of these waters are not subject to reasonable regulation and control in the saving of water.”

Since this appeal is taken because of the regulations and controls placed on plaintiffs, the facts which are material to the regulation are specifically set out as a part of the argument.

STATEMENT OF POINTS ON APPEAL

I. The Court erred in fixing a definite time schedule for the use of water by plaintiffs and appellants.

II. The Court erred in limiting appellants to two cubic feet of water per second and enjoining them from utilizing more than said quantity of water at any time.

III. That the court erred in limiting the irrigation season to 150 days and in prohibiting any use of water after September 22nd.

IV. That the court erred in entering any injunction against plaintiffs and appellants.

V. The court erred in requiring the appellants to construct appropriate by-pass facilities at their expense.

VI. The court erred in failing and refusing to place any time limits or to fix the duty, or in other wise determine and define the rights of the defendants and in refusing to enjoin them from using water in excess of their rights.

VII. The court erred in fixing the duty of water at 3.5 acre feet per acre.

VIII. The court erred in refusing to enter paragraph 9 of the proposed decree.

IX. The court erred in refusing to enter proposed Finding of Fact No. 16 to the effect that the Supreme Court had determined that there were five classes of water reaching McNaughton Gulch, two of which were McNaughton's private waters, and that McNaughton can use the McNaughton Gulch as a part of his lateral or

irrigating system and can divert and recapture his water in the McNaughton Gulch.

X. The court erred in refusing to adjudge by its decree that none of the defendants has any interest in McNaughton's canal stock, and that he can use the same at such times as he desires without regard to the defendants.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE PRONOUNCEMENTS OF THIS COURT ON THE ORIGINAL APPEAL ARE THE LAW OF THE CASE.

We think it well at the outset to note that such matters as this court determined on its prior appeal have become the law of the case, binding on the parties, the trial court and the Supreme Court, and are not now subject to reexamination. This court has so held on numerous occasions.¹

The Supreme Court has expressly held that appellants here are the senior appropriators with rights superior to the rights of any of the defendants; that they

¹See, for example, **Powerine Company v. Zions Savings Bank & Trust Company, et al.**, 106 Utah 384, 148 P. 2d 807, and **Gray v. DeFay**, 107 Utah 172, 153 P. 2d 544. In the **Powerine** case on a second appeal the Supreme Court said:

"We shall not review our pronouncements heretofore made in this case, nor shall we discuss the errors assigned if they deal with matters discussed in the previous opinion and upon which no new determination should have been made by the trial court, except by way of entering findings to conform to our previous opinion. * * *

"Our pronouncements are the law of the case, binding no less upon us than on the lower court. We, therefore, shall not review them."

used the water prior to 1903 about as they now use it, and that the trial court's findings in regard to appellants' prior appropriation should be affirmed. The trial court in its Memorandum Decision (R. 36) also applied this principle and upon that theory re-entered verbatim its Findings Nos. 1-9, included in which are many of the critical facts which will control this appeal.

POINT II. THE COURT ERRED IN FIXING A
DEFINITE TIME SCHEDULE FOR THE USE
OF WATER BY PLAINTIFFS AND IN LIMIT-
ING PLAINTIFFS TO 2 C.F.S. OF WATER
DURING SAID PERIOD.

The trial court noted in its original findings, (R. 11) and in its findings entered after the retrial, (R. 70) that the amount of water finding its way into the McNaughton Gulch "varies from day to day and from season to season, depending upon the irrigation practices prevailing on these adjacent lands; that the amount of water available for diversion from the gulch on to the McNaughton lands is not measurable * * * (Finding 6) that the volume of seepage or waste water flowing into the McNaughton Gulch has increased with the increase of irrigation within its drainage area, until at the high point of flow there may be several cubic feet per second flowing into the gulch, but the flow is not constant and the amount at its lowest ebb is of a negligible amount."

This finding as to the variable flow from day to day and from season to season was challenged by the de-

fendants in their first appeal, but the finding was not disturbed by the Supreme Court. Even had these findings not become the law of the cases, the evidence would compel the conclusion that the stream has a variable flow; that when upstream irrigators are wasteful in the application of water the flow of water in the gulch is high, and when they are careful in their irrigation practices the flow may be of negligible amount.

In almost the exact words of this trial court's findings, Carroll testified at pages 53 and 55 that the water is not measurable. He also testified at page 52, as follows:

“Q. Is the amount which flows therein consistent from day to day, and season?

A. Varies all the time.

Q. Does it vary day to day in the same season?

A. Yes, because we have irrigation on each side, and sometimes the waste water runs in and it will raise, and the next day somebody shuts their water off and there won't be as much in there.

Q. Do the upper irrigators permit their waste water to run into the gulch?

A. Yes, sir.”

John McNaughton testified (R. 158) as follows:

“Well, I have observed the gulch for all these years, and I find that the gulch fluctuates from year to year and day to day, and it is pretty hard to tell just how much water you are going to have, * * *

Q. Do you know what causes it to fluctuate from day to day?

A. It is caused by the amount of irrigation on each side of the gulch; that is one of the causes. And, of course, from the use of the water by the neighbors above. Sometimes they are not so careful about their water, they let it run through and return waste water, so the gulch fluctuates from waste water as well as the seepage water.”

The fact that the stream is variable is of critical importance. The trial court in its decree fixed the duty of water at 3.5 acre feet of water per acre per year, and on the basis of 66.03 acres being irrigated the court awarded plaintiff 231.05 acre feet of water each year, (R. 74). However, the court restricted the plaintiff to diversions from the McNaughton Gulch of not more than two cubic feet of water per second during an exact 92 hour 24 minute period during each ten consecutive days. If there were always two cubic feet of water per second or more in the gulch during the particular 92 hour 24 minute period when the plaintiffs are permitted by the decree to use water, they would be able to get exactly 3.5 acre feet of water per acre, or 231.05 acre feet per year. If, however, at any time during their 92 hour turn the gulch should yield less than 2 c.f.s. of water, they would not be able to get the water which the trial court and this court have adjudged that they appropriated. Since the court has found and it is the law of the case that the stream varies from day to day and from season to season, and the flow is at times of negligible amount, it was error to put the plaintiffs on such a restricted basis without provision to protect their rights against the variable flow

so that they would in any event be permitted to take the 231 acre feet awarded to them.

Historically the plaintiffs have used the water as it accumulated at their points of diversion, taking such quantities as were available. Every witness testifying on the subject admitted that for over half a century McNaughton has maintained a tight dam across the McNaughton Gulch above the points of diversion used by the defendants, (R. 12, 15, 19, 63, 73, 100, 140). There was undisputed evidence to the effect that from 1900 to 1948 there was no complaint from anyone and no trouble on the stream, (R. 183). Even the predecessors in interest to the defendants so admitted. Ed Hoeft, predecessor in interest to one of the defendants testified that from 1909 until he sold the property he had never had any occasion to disturb the McNaughton Dam, (R. 102). Ernest Johnson, who owned part of the defendants' lands said that he never bothered to walk upstream during the time he farmed the lands (R. 125). Mr. Ross, who was a predecessor in interest to some of the defendants, was on the stream for 48 years, and he never once had occasion to go upstream to the McNaughton farm (R. 33). John B. Eaton has farmed some of defendant's property for 35 years, and he never during all of that time had occasion to go to the McNaughton property until 1948 when this trouble started, (R. 353).

It thus seems undisputably established that for half a century McNaughton has maintained tight dams across McNaughton Gulch, diverting the water accumulating therein on to his lands and done of the defendants or their

predecessors interfered until 1948. In 1947 the McNaughton Dam was washed out, (R. 375). McNaughton replaced it in 1948, (R. 171). When the dam was replaced the water was shut off. Fisher, who had just become an owner of land on the gulch (R. 275) missed the water and went upstream to find it, (R. 276, 293). He saw the dams and ditches of McNaughton. The dam had been recently replaced, and the ditches had been cleared. Fisher thought the dam and ditches were new construction (R. 281, 287). He took his shovel and diverted the water out of the McNaughton ditches, (R. 294) and then had McNaughton arrested. This precipitated the filing of this lawsuit, in which the trial court and the Supreme Court have both held that McNaughton's right is prior to the rights of any of the defendants.

It is clear from the evidence that McNaughton's ditches are large enough to take more than six c.f.s. of water at the same time, (Retrial R. 26). Even though McNaughton has diverted all of the water which has accumulated in the gulch, he has found it necessary to divert water from the Ashley Canal, in which he owns stock, and supplement the gulch water with it, (R. 29, 221, 101, 152). Since the stream varies even within the same day because of the practices of upstream irrigators, it is difficult for McNaughton to know when the water will be in the gulch and how much water he will have at any given time, (R. 158).

McNaughtons' land sloped to the gulch and there is a drain ditch along the entire lower (east) end of

the McNaughton land, (R. Ex. 1, Ex. A, 261, 262, Finding 10). If the tight dam under any particular circumstance should divert surplus water on to McNaughtons' lands it would return directly to the gulch. There is no place else it could go and both the drain ditch and the points at which the water would run on the surface to the gulch are upstream from all the defendants' lands. On a variable, unmeasureable stream, the manner in which the parties peaceably functioned all these years is probably the best method of handling the administration of the stream.

In any event, the prior or senior right of McNaughtons to take the water needed by his lands is totally defeated where on a variable stream the court limits him to a rigid schedule of hours and a maximum rate of flow as was done here. It assumes a constant flow of more than 2 c.f.s. If at any time during his 92 hour turn the flow is less than 2 c.f.s. he will not get his water. The court has found that the flow is variable and at times is negligible. In the face of this finding the rigid schedule of hours and the 2 c.f.s. limit cannot stand.

POINT III. THE COURT ERRED IN LIMITING THE IRRIGATION SEASON TO 150 DAYS.

The discussion under Point III is really inter-related with the discussions under Points IV and V, which relate to the issuance of an injunction against the plaintiffs and the fixing of a duty as low as 3.5 acre feet. We will refer here only to the basis of the court's order, and will

then relate the matter to the argument under Points IV and V.

In its original Memorandum Decision the court fixed the duty of water at 3.5 acre feet per acre per year, and the irrigation season at 180 days, (R. 51). The court had also made a mathematical error in its computation, and McNaughtons filed a motion for correction of the error and for reconsideration, (R. 53). The McNaughtons had called David I. Gardner, an engineer, as an expert on the duty of water. Mr. Gardner testified that in his opinion a 180 day irrigation season was desirable in the Vernal area, (Retrial 84). He noted that the McNaughton land was uneven and that irrigation of the high spots would require an excess application of water in the swales. He also noted various other criteria which affect the duty of water, and expressed his opinion that six acre feet of water per acre per year was necessary, (Retrial 22, 23, 48 and 75). The defendants called Mr. Christensen as an expert. He testified that three acre feet per acre would be necessary on the portions of the land which had good soil (Retrial 95) and that more water would be necessary on the portions of the land which had sandy soil, (Retrial 99). Defendants also sought to fix a 150 day irrigation season, (Retrial R. 113). We will have occasion to refer to his testimony again under the argument on duty of water, but we note here that in the court's original memorandum it accepted Mr. Christensen's testimony that 3 acre feet per acre was sufficient water and then accepted Mr. Gardner's testimony on the 180 day irrigation season, (R. 51). By rotating the use

of water on ten day turns McNaughtons would be given eighteen irrigation turns per 180 day season. The court's award of 3.5 acre feet of water per acre (42 inches per acre) when divided into eighteen turns, would allow only slightly more than two inches of water per irrigation turn. Even if the crops could absorb 100 per cent of the water applied to the land with no waste, this would not mature crops. Therefore, in order to avoid an anomalous result, we urge the court to either increase the amount of water so that in each of the eighteen turns more water could be applied, or in the alternative to shorten the season, (R. 59). The court refused to increase the amount above 3.5 acre feet, but did cut the length of the season.

The evidence shows that the 150 day turn will prove too short. Gardner said that the growing season for corn and alfalfa is 180 days, (Retrial R. 8). Defendants' witness Turner did not know the growing season, (Retrial R. 105). McNaughton testified that the season might in some years begin as early as March on pasture land and in some years continue as late as November, (Retrial R. 110). Defendants' witness Hacking said the "frost free" period is generally between May and September, but sometimes it is earlier, sometimes later, (Retrial R. 112). He said he begins to irrigate in the spring "when we can get the water" and it generally comes down about the first of May, (Retrial R. 112). He irrigates until October, (Retrial R. 113). On cross-examination he admitted that after dry winters earlier irrigation might be needed, (Retrial R. 117), and that they irrigate their lawns about April 15th, (Retrial R. 117). He also said

there are seasons when it is beneficial to water the pastures until "the end of October", (Retrial R. 117) and that a late irrigation of alfalfa is very desirable and that this should be done after "the frost is severe enough, so that your growing season has stopped." (Retrial R. 117).

This is all the evidence on the length of the growing season. Every witness testified that in some years water is needed in April and some in March. Every witness also saw value from irrigating in October.

The injunction issued has had the effect of awarding all of the April and October water to the defendants, whose lands are in the same 320 acre half section, as are the plaintiffs. If plaintiffs do not need this early and late water, neither do defendants, and plaintiffs should not have been enjoined.

We thought at the trial and think now that it is beneficial to irrigate the lands as late in the Fall as water is available. Defendants apparently think so too, because they definitely wanted the plaintiffs restricted by injunction to a short irrigation season. But they wanted to be free from any like restriction on their use and strenuously objected to a finding that it was not beneficial to irrigate *their* lands before April 25th or after September 22nd. Defendants have thus succeeded, without proving any water right, in limiting the plaintiffs to a 150 day season, with an injunction which has the effect of awarding defendants all of the waters of McNaughton

Gulch between September 22nd and the following April 25th. They can have the plaintiffs punished for contempt, even though plaintiffs are not interfering with defendants or their rights. This short season enforced by an injunction, we believe is error.

POINT IV. THE COURT ERRED IN PLACING ANY INJUNCTIONS AGAINST THE PLAINTIFFS.

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