1955

John E. McNaughton and Henrietta McNaughton v. John B. Eaton et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

“ . . . It is clear that all of *these waters are subject to appropriation and the only right that can be acquired to their use is a reasonably efficient beneficial use, and defendants as subsequent appropriators are entitled to the use of all of such waters not necessary to satisfy* such requirements of plaintiffs.”

STATEMENT OF POINTS

I

Appellants correctly assert that the pronouncements of the court on the original appeal are the law of the case.

II

The Court properly limited plaintiffs' use of water to 2 C.F.S. upon a fixed time schedule.

III

The trial court fixed the irrigation season at 150 days at the instance of the appellant who cannot now be heard to attack the determination.

IV

The trial court properly restricted the plaintiffs from interfering with the balance of the waters of McNaughton Gulch.

V

The evidence justifies the award of 3.5 feet of water per acre.

VI

The decree in no way affects the McNaughton Canal waters.

VII

The court properly determined the irrigated acreage to be 66.03 acres on the basis of the evidence available to him.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

Appellants correctly assert that the pronouncements of this Court on the original appeal are the law of the case.

Respondents have no quarrel with Point I of Appellants' Brief insofar as it states the above entitled proposition. Respondents do however, feel that the Appellants lose sight of this proposition of law elsewhere in their brief, and particularly at Point IV, as will hereinafter be more particularly pointed out under Respondents' argument on that point.

Respondents feel that the Trial Court had this principle well in mind in analyzing the extent to which he was required to re-open the case under the Supreme Court's former decision.

In his Memorandum Decision (P. 2) the Trial Court reviewed the decision of the Supreme Court, and then said:

“Restating the above so that it is more directly pointed to the present query, the court simply and directly states that the plaintiffs have the right to use all of the water of the McNaughton Gulch which, when used with

reasonable efficiency, is sufficient 'to satisfy *the* beneficial use of *their* (plaintiffs') *appropriation*.' "

Elsewhere in his Memorandum Decision (P. 5) the court restates the problem as follows:

"Thus under the mandate, we are to determine how much of the gulch water is reasonably necessary for plaintiff to use in a reasonably efficient manner in order to produce his crops upon 66.03 acres of land which must be watered by diversion from the gulch."

and again, at P. 6:

"Thus, the quantity of gulch water which the plaintiffs and their predecessors in interest had diverted from the gulch and applied to beneficial use prior to 1903, is the amount of water that he now has the right to divert and use. It is our problem to find out what that was."

The case then so far as the further proceedings were concerned, was addressed to the inquiry, "What water rights do the plaintiffs have based upon beneficial use thereof as fixed prior to 1903? And with the recognition of the rights of the defendants to any waters in excess of those rights as indicated by the quote from the Supreme Court's original opinion as set out heretofore in Respondents' Additional Statement of Facts, P. 2.

POINT II

The Court properly limited plaintiffs' use of water to 2 C.F.S. upon a fixed time schedule.

Appellants assertion of error stemming from the 2 C.F.S. award which the court made for a fixed period of 92 hours and 24 minutes each 10-day period appears to be predicated upon the theory that because the flow was not constant that plaintiffs should not be bound by any limitation. This does violence to the evidence upon which the trial court found the facts, both at the original trial and at the retrial.

The impression apparently sought to be created in appellants' brief, by the undue emphasis upon the findings of the trial court as to variation from day to day and season to season, and from a flow of several cubic feet to a low ebb when the flow is negligible, is that a great deal of the time the flow is negligible. Let us therefore, analyze the evidence to allay such a misconception.

On the 23rd day of February, 1954, four months after all irrigation had ceased on surrounding lands, their own witness, David Gardner, found 1½ second feet of water in the Gulch at Dam No. 3, plaintiff's only dam on his own premises (Retrial R. 30-31). Ed Tyzach, for plaintiffs, testified of visiting the Gulch to fish, swim or catch muskrats sometime near

but after 1900 (R. 22). Asher Merkley for plaintiffs stated that he had never seen the Gulch dry and that for the past 40 years there has always been from three to seven cubic feet second flow into Ashley Central Canal from McNaughton Gulch (R. 63-64). He continued to say that he knew the only water defendants had to irrigate their lands came from McNaughton Gulch and that they had always raised a crop (R. 66-67-68). Ed Hoeft had never seen the Gulch dry and always irrigated 30 acres himself from the Gulch (R. 108). Ernest Johnson later owned the Hoeft place and always had plenty of water to irrigate 30 acres and never had to go up stream (R. 121, 125). McNaughton can only remember one year when water did not run through his east fence (R. 202) and during water time he turns water out on pasture and then it drains and goes back down the Gulch (R. 206-207). L. P. Christensen found $1\frac{1}{2}$ cubic feet second being diverted to North from vicinity of lower McNaughton Dam and $\frac{1}{2}$ cubic feet second to the South during time of first trial in July and forepart of August, 1950. (R. 244, 253). On August 1st, 1950, James Fisher estimated 2 feet in diversion to the North of McNaughton No. 3 (R. 282). W. Simpson Ross remembers only one year that water did not flow in Gulch (R. 322). It is admitted by all that until 1948 all parties had and used water from McNaughton Gulch and apparently had sufficient to mature their crops without incident.

The record then, definitely established that there is always a considerable flow in McNaughton Gulch. That it flows year round. That its constant flow varies from season to season only as other streams may vary because of wet years or extreme drought conditions. That irrigation practices effect the flow only by adding to the already constant flow of the Gulch. The trial court, after considering all evidence, determined that the variations of the Gulch were not of such a nature which would prevent McNaughton from obtaining the irrigation head necessary to properly irrigate his land if he followed the irrigation practices he had used in the past by taking all water of the Gulch not to exceed 2 cubic feet second and adding it to his canal water for a period of 92 hours 24 minutes each ten days. McNaughton's own testimony substantiates this determination. McNaughton stated he needed a stream of 1 to 1½ feet to get over his ground (R. 157) which he repeated as being the desired flow and volumn to cover his land (R. 200). He added that if the Gulch didn't flow that much he supplemented it with canal water (R. 155, 157) but that some summers it wasn't necessary to use canal water at all.

McNaughton testified that the 12½ shares of stock he owned in Ashley Upper Canal Co. was the same stock his predecessors had used and that the McNaughton land involved in this suit is irrigated

by water from the Ashley Upper Canal Company. (R. 209, 210, 211, 212). He also stated that he now leases his canal stock and also practically all of his 125 shares in Ashley Valley reservoir; that 1 share of Upper Ashley Canal stock is allowed to each 10 acres of land (R. 154, 155).

The trial court very painstakingly reviewed the evidence in his Memorandum Decision on this question of the flow of waters in the Gulch, and has in that Memorandum Decision preserved his analysis for review by the Supreme Court. We call the Court's attention particularly to pages 8 through 16.

It should also be noted that the court granted the plaintiff .5 acre feet more water per acre than he felt the evidence otherwise justified on the basis of existing variables. (See Memorandum Decision (P. 15)).

POINT III

The Trial Court fixed the irrigation season at 150 days at the instance of the appellants, who cannot now be heard to attack that determination.

The court in its Memorandum Decision adopted a growing season of 180 days. There was considerable evidence at the retrial of this matter concerning this precise point, and for convenience of the court we herewith abstract the same:

David I. Gardner, an engineer called by McNaughton testified that growing season for grain was 90 to 100 days and for alfalfa 180 days (Retrial R. 8, 53) but stated his testimony was based on experience in other parts of the state, not Ashley Valley. (Retrial R. 71, 44). After qualifying as an expert he expressed his opinion that McNaughton land would require six acre feet of water per year to mature crops (Retrial R. 20, 75). He freely admitted however that he had never made an experiment in Ashley Valley (Retrial 44, 71); that he had only been *through* Vernal 3 times (Retrial 76); and had only visited the McNaughton property once and that was for approximately one hour just preceeding the trial during which he had walked up and down the Gulch and viewed the premises from an automobile along the highway (Retrial 27, 35, 36).

In contrast, L. P. Christensen, testified that he was a Civil Engineer with 34 years experience in Ashley Valley and in charge of distribution of waters in Ashley Valley since 1920. (Retrial 88). Mr. Christensen stated that 3 acre feet per acre per year would adequately irrigate the McNaughton land (Retrial 93, 95). Mr. Christensen, after taking into consideration water table and type of soil, pointed out that one share of water in Ashley Upper was allotted to each 10 acres and that it would produce on the average 3 acre feet per acre per year. (Retrial 92). One share

of Ashley Valley .2 acre feet per acre per year (Retrial 93). Mr. Christensen repeated that John McNaughton owned 12.5 shares of Ashley Upper and 125 shares Reservoir (R. 254, 255, Retrial R. 89). On the first hearing Mr. Christensen testified that 1 share to 10 acres in Ashley Upper and 1 share to each acre in Ashley Reservoir would in normal years provide a full water right for land in Ashley Valley (R. 260), McNaughtons own only 80 acres of land.

The trial court noted the discrepancy in the testimony of the experts. Which one is in a better position to know? Which one is experienced in Ashley Valley? What is the situation on other lands in the Valley? The court granted plaintiffs 3.5 acre feet per acre per year and the growing season of 180 days. The maximum requested. (Memorandum decision page 15-16). Then upon plaintiffs own Motion for Further Consideration and Memorandum in Support thereof, plaintiffs testimony to the contrary, the court shortened the irrigation season to 150 days (Court order correcting Memorandum Decision). In the face of this record it is difficult to find reason in plaintiffs now charging error with reference to the irrigation season limitation fixed and shortened at their own request.

The court's limitation is only upon the plaintiffs use of Gulch water and is based upon that diverted

and beneficially applied prior to 1903. They have historically had and used the above mentioned canal water upon their lands. The court has determined what use plaintiff made of Gulch water prior to 1903 and awarded that to them. The plaintiff can take that much water from the Gulch whether or not there remains sufficient water for defendants even though they also have historically had sufficient water from the Gulch to irrigate their lands.

The Appellants having importuned the trial court to shorten the season to 150 days, which matter was acceded to by the Respondents and the Trial Court, it would seemingly come with ill grace for the Appellants to predicate error thereon. If their disagreement is both with the length of irrigation season, and with the duty of water, certainly it would seem that they must stand their ground in both respects if they are to be heard on appeal on both matters, rather than affirmatively suggest a shorter season be entered in the findings.

The Court was amply justified in its findings in regard to this point, and what the Court did in effect was to limit one of the rights of the appellants (plaintiffs) at their own request. In this respect, the Trial Court was merely doing what this court has on occasion done, that is, comply with the request of a party where his rights may be greater, but where for

special reasons he does not desire to have them asserted fully. *Wolfe v. White*, Utah, 225 P. 2d 729.

What the appellants really seek to do under this point, however, it appears, is to attack indirectly the finding of the trial court that 3.5 acre feet is the reasonable duty of water in the present instance. The anomaly, if existent, is one created by the appellants, and not one of the court's making. The evidence on the question of duty of water is treated by Respondents elsewhere in this brief, and clearly preponderates in favor of the trial court's ruling.

POINT IV

The Trial Court properly restricted the plaintiffs from interfering with the balance of the waters of McNaughton Gulch.

Appellants are most unrealistic in their claim under point IV of their brief that error exists by reason of the restrictions which the court placed upon them.

The matter of the existence of a right to form the basis for the restrictions appears to be fully and completely disposed of by the factual picture as it developed in this case, and by the opinion of the Supreme Court on the previous appeal. 242 P 2d 570.

The present lawsuit was precipitated by the assertion of the defendants of their rights in the Mc-

Naughton Gulch waters. The plaintiffs as upper stream users are in a position to interfere with the defendants use, and by their actions prior to suit and by bringing suit, they have manifest every intention and desire to completely nullify the rights of lower stream users. This has been the exact nature of their approach to the problem. Obviously then, if the plaintiffs as upper users do not willingly comply with the judgment of the court, the situation is one which is fraught with possibility of serious consequences.

It rather begs the question to say that the court cannot be realistic in its approach to a problem so serious and real as is this one. The history of the West is filled with instances of physical violence engendered by disagreements over water rights and water turns. Certainly the court is not required to close its eyes to just such a problem after having determined that the plaintiff is not entitled to stop all lower users from obtaining water as he began doing in 1948, and as he seeks to do permanently.

Appellants, since they have no rights in the waters in excess of the beneficial use as fixed by the Court are not adversely affected by the restraints imposed upon them, unless they contemplate violation of the decree and continued use of the excess waters.

The appellants cite numerous cases establishing the proposition that the court could not properly impose restraints on behalf of the defendants because it was not established that they had rights. In the case of Dameron Valley Reservoir v. Bleak, 61 Utah 230, 211 P. 974, the facts make the case completely distinguishable. The case commenced by the plaintiff seeking an injunction was unsuccessful when he failed to establish prior rights to those of the defendant.

In the case of Stauffer v. Utah Oil Refining Co., 85 Utah 388, 39 P. 2d 725, the plaintiff sought an injunction based upon rights which he unsuccessfully asserted, because he failed to establish that defendants were using waters in excess of their entitlement. Having failed to establish the rights upon which the injunction was asserted, the rule followed that plaintiff could not obtain the injunction for interference with those rights.

In the principle case the plaintiff commenced the suit and asserted rights against the defendant which they have been partially unsuccessful in maintaining in that they have not been able to establish unqualified right to the waters of McNaughton Gulch. The assertion of the right to all of the waters however makes it clear that their claim does interfere with the rights of the defendant. The suit as com-

menced by the plaintiff was not intended as an adjudication of the specific rights of the various defendants, but was the assertion of the rights of the plaintiffs in derogation of the rights of the defendants in general.

To raise the contention that defendants established no rights to water from the Gulch is highly unrealistic. It flies in the face of the evidence at the trial initially and the retrial, and furthermore, overlooks one of the basic premises upon which the plaintiffs predicate their appeal. That is, that the first decision of the Supreme Court has become the law of the case. In that opinion the court said: (242 P. 2d 570)

“ . . . defendants as subsequent appropriators are entitled to the use of all of such waters not necessary to satisfy such requirements of the plaintiffs.”

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